Georgia State University ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University

Public Health Theses

School of Public Health

5-15-2015

Factors Related to Access to Nutritious Foods and the Association with Cancer Mortality in the Southeast United States

Krystal Freeman

Follow this and additional works at: http://scholarworks.gsu.edu/iph_theses

Recommended Citation

Freeman, Krystal, "Factors Related to Access to Nutritious Foods and the Association with Cancer Mortality in the Southeast United States." Thesis, Georgia State University, 2015. http://scholarworks.gsu.edu/iph_theses/393

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Public Health at ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Public Health Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gsu.edu.

FACTORS RELATED TO ACCESS TO NUTRITIOUS FOODS AND THE ASSOCIATION WITH CANCER MORTALITY IN THE SOUTHEAST UNITED STATES

By

KRYSTAL NICOLE FREEMAN B.S., UNIVERSITY OF ALABAMA AT BIRMINGHAM

A Thesis Project Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Georgia State University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

MASTER OF PUBLIC HEALTH

FACTORS RELATED TO ACCESS TO NUTRITIOUS FOODS AND THE ASSOCIATION WITH CANCER MORTALITY IN THE SOUTHEAST UNITED STATES

By

KRYSTAL NICOLE FREEMAN

Approved:

Committee Chair

Committee Member

Date

ABSTRACT

KRYSTAL N. FREEMAN

FACTORS RELATED TO ACCESS TO NUTRITIOUS FOODS AND THE ASSOCIATION WITH CANCER MORTALITY IN THE SOUTHEAST UNITED STATES

(Under the direction of Lee Mobley, PhD)

Background: Cancer is one of the leading causes of mortality in the United States. However, nutrient rich diets are known protective factors against this disease. Unfortunately, many areas in the United States do not have adequate access to nutritious foods. This study aims to examine cancer mortality rates in these counties in relationship to access to food. The main hypothesis is that greater accessibility to nutritious food sources in counties is associated with lower county cancer mortality rates.

Methods: Exploratory spatial cluster analysis was used to determine whether patterns of observed cancer mortality were spatially random or not. Finding spatial structure, spatial regression was used to determine the association between several factors related to nutritional access in relation to cancer mortality rates in counties in the Southeastern US.

Results: Results from this study indicated that cancer mortality rates are clustered in the southeast into areas with higher than average and areas with lower than average risk. The patterns are statistically significantly different than would have been observed by chance, using a 5% level of significance. Spatial regression indicated a positive statistically significant relationship between the number of households that live more than one mile away from a grocery store with no vehicle access and increased cancer mortality (p=.00002).

Conclusion: Further research should be conducted to determine which factors in counties are contributing to cancer mortality. Results showed that although individuals have access to healthy foods, they may also have equal access to unhealthy food selections. Behaviors should be assessed to find out what factors influence food choices.

Author's Statement Page

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Georgia State University, I agree that the Library of the University shall make it available for inspection and circulation in accordance with its regulations governing materials of this type. I agree that permission to quote from, to copy from, or to publish this thesis may be granted by the author or, in his/her absence, by the professor under whose direction it was written, or in his/her absence, by the Associate Dean, School of Public Health. Such quoting, copying, or publishing must be solely for scholarly purposes and will not involve potential financial gain. It is understood that any copying from or publication of this dissertation which involves potential financial gain will not be allowed without written permission of the author.

Signature of Author

Notice to Borrowers Page

All theses deposited in the Georgia State University Library must be used in accordance with the stipulations prescribed by the author in the preceding statement.

The author of this thesis is: Student's Name: Krystal Freeman Street Address: 1507 Spring Creek Lane City, State, and Zip Code: Atlanta, GA 30350 The Chair of the committee for this thesis is: Professor's Name: Lee Mobley, PhD Department: College: School of Public Health Georgia State University School of Public Health P.O. Box 3995 Atlanta, Georgia 30302-3995

Users of this thesis who not regularly enrolled as students at Georgia State University are required to attest acceptance of the preceding stipulation by signing below. Libraries borrowing this thesis for the use of their patrons are required to see that each user records here the information requested.

Name of User	Address	Date	Type of Use (Examination ONLY or Copying)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Content	s
---------	---

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION7
CHAPTER II: LITERATURE REVIEW10
Disparities in Food Deserts10
Association between Food Environment and Health11
Nutrition Behaviors and Food Choices12
Nutrition and Cancer Survivorship
Nutrition and Cancer Mortality15
Comorbidities and Cancer
CHAPTER III: METHODS AND PROCEDURES
Methodology and Data
Conceptual Model of Cancer Mortality Rates in Counties
Table 1: Selected Variables for Conceptual Model Examining the Association between Food Environment and Cancer Mortality 20
Data Analysis21
Hypotheses to be Tested in the Spatial Regression Modeling
CHAPTER IV: RESULTS
LISA Exploratory Analysis24
Figure 1: Results from LISA Spatial Clustering Analysis of Average Annual County Cancer Mortality Rates During 2008-2010: Spatial Clusters of Above-Average County Rates (red) and Below Average County Rates (Blue) in the Southeast United States25
Regression Results
Table 2: Results from Ordinary Least Squares and Spatial Lag Regressions 26
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION
Clusters of High Cancer Mortality Rates
Limitations & Future Implications
Conclusion
REFERENCES

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

Cancer is a leading cause of mortality in the United States. The American Cancer Society (ACS) defines cancer as a group of over 100 diseases that arises from uncontrolled cell growth. These cells continue to grow and invade other body tissues. (ACS, 2015). In 2010, it was estimated that cancer cost the United States 124.57 billion dollars. These annual costs are expected to increase to 158 billion dollars by the year 2020 (National Cancer Institute, 2011). Breast and colorectal cancers are the greatest contributors to cancer mortality (ACS, 2013). These types of cancer are associated with dietary factors [United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) & Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), 2011]. There has been an evolution of health reform to include the Patient Accessibility and Affordable Care Act (ACA, 2010), the 2009 Family Smoking Prevention and Control Act (FSPCA, 2009), and continuously revised guidelines for a variety of cancer screening procedures (NIH, 2015). Nutrition and physical activity are known behavioral factors that can significantly impact cancer incidence and mortality (Klein, et al. 2014).

In 2010, HHS issued dietary guidelines in an attempt to combat the rising obesity and chronic disease epidemics. The American Cancer Society (ACS) has also issued nutrition and physical activity guidelines for both cancer prevention and survivorship. These guidelines include increasing fruit and vegetable intake, limiting red and processed meat consumption, and choosing whole grains over refined grains. ACS also encourages increasing access to healthy foods in communities (ACS, 2012). Unfortunately, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) estimate that 33% and 27% of adults

consume the daily recommended amounts of fruits and vegetables respectively. Also, nearly 15% of households have been unable to obtain enough food (USDA & HHS, 2011).

Food insecurity negatively impacts diet quality in multiple ways. Independently, lack of food resources can cause stress and trigger the consumption of appetizing, yet unhealthy, foods as a coping mechanism (Leung, et al, 2014). Individuals in food insecure areas also report unhealthy behaviors in general (Tolzman, et al., 2014). The intake of these unhealthy foods contributes to greater BMI and obesity rates in food insecure areas (Holben & Pheley, 2006). Individuals that live in food insecure neighborhoods are also more likely to report hypertension, diabetes and heart disease (Stuff, et al, 2007).

Food insecurity is defined as "*is a household-level economic and social condition of limited or uncertain access to adequate food*" (USDA, 2009). Evidence is mixed regarding food desert characteristics. There is evidence that shows that economically disadvantaged areas are at the highest risk of food insecurity, but studies have also shown that these disadvantaged areas have the same access to nutritious foods as advantaged areas. However, lower income areas have more fast-food and nutrient poor food options than their wealthier counterparts (Alviola, et al 2013).

Although attention to food environment and its role in chronic diseases such as cardiovascular disease and obesity have increased, the association between food environments and cancer has not been thoroughly studied. There are numerous factors relevant to access to food that can also affect cancer mortality including numbers of fast food restaurants, and other comorbid and chronic diseases from poor nutritional health

behaviors. This study aims to answer the question, "Is access to nutrition foods associated with cancer mortality?" This study will also assess the question, "Which neighborhood nutritional characteristics are associated with cancer mortality?"

CHAPTER II: LITERATURE REVIEW

A literature search was performed using Georgia State University Library, PubMed, and Google. While conducting this literature search, the following were used as search terms: *food deserts, nutrition and cancer mortality, access to food and health, nutrition and cancer risk, disparities in food deserts, and nutrition and cancer survivorship, nutrition and cancer mortality, nutrition behavior and food choices.* The literature review is arranged in the following format: disparities in food deserts, association between food environment and health, relationship between diet/nutrition and cancer, nutrition behaviors, cancer survivorship and nutrition, cancer mortality and nutrition, and comorbidities and cancer.

Disparities in Food Deserts

Results from a 2012 systematic review determined that low income neighborhoods that have low access to nutritious foods have greater access to fast food sources that promote unhealthful eating. The researchers conducted searches on food environment and neighborhood deprivation to determine if these factors had an effect on fast food consumption and unhealthful eating. These researchers believe that neighborhood design impacts healthy food consumption (Hilmers, et al., 2012).

Low income neighborhoods are also at risk for other factors that can contribute to chronic disease. A 2012 study conducted by Hillier, et al, examined tobacco advertising trends in low income neighborhoods. Results determined that entities that accepted government nutrition assistance were more likely to market tobacco. Tobacco advertising is linked with smoking tendencies. Since smoking is associated with cancer and chronic diseases, low income neighborhoods may be at an increased risk of developing cancer and chronic disease (Hillier, et al, 2015).

In 2014, a cross-sectional telephone survey explored potential differences in food shopping behaviors and the availability of health foods between residents of high and low food access. Although residents of low access food areas reported traveling farther to their primary grocery stores than those of high access food areas, their reporting of healthy food availability and shopping frequency was not statistically different (Sohi, et al., 2014).

In 2014, questionnaires were administered to 2,068 households located in La Crosse, Wisconsin. This area is considered to be a food desert based on the definition determined by the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA). Results from this questionnaire concluded that individuals that live in food deserts were less likely to be able to afford food than individuals that do not live in food deserts. Mean food insecurity was also significantly higher than the national mean, as well as the mean for the state of Wisconsin. Individuals in this area were also more likely to report unhealthy behaviors such as smoking (Tolzman, et al., 2014).

Association between Food Environment and Health

A cross-sectional study performed in 2012 in Detroit, Michigan was conducted to determine if living in a food desert was associated with food consumption, shopping behaviors, and body mass index (BMI). The participants consisted of 1004 individuals recruited in the waiting area of four primary care clinics. These participants were administered a questionnaire that pertained to personal health status, demographics,

transportation, and food shopping habits. The results from this survey found that living in a food desert was not associated with BMI (Budynska, et al., 2013).

Bovell-Benjamin, et al. (2009) observed access and availability of nutritious foods and physical activity in grocery stores in two contrasting Alabama cities. One city was considered to be of low socioeconomic status (Tuskegee) while the other was considered to be more affluent (Auburn). In the impoverished Alabama city, none of the convenience stores carried nutritious food options including frozen or low sodium vegetables and lowfat dairy products compared to the 87.5% of stores in Auburn that offer these options. These limited opportunities for nutritious food items could be a contributing factor to chronic disease. The researchers think that socioeconomic status in rural versus urban areas could be associated with access to nutritious foods. However, the researchers feel that these results may not be generalizable to larger areas.

Christian performed research to test for the association between access to grocery stores and coexisting food insecurity and obesity. Data from the Center for Disease Control and Prevention's CDC Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System were paired with USDA grocery store access measures. This study determined that as distance to grocery stores increased, the likelihood of obesity for houses in food insecure environments increased as well. This direct relationship shows that access to nutritious foods should be assessed when exploring interventions for obesity and food insecurity (Christian, 2010).

Nutrition Behaviors and Food Choices

Obesity disparities are partially a result of inadequate healthful food access and overwhelming access to low quality foods. Past studies have suggested that a lack of time is an equal contributor to nutritional barriers (Rose, 1999). Low resource households may have little time to shop for and prepare nutritious meals at home resulting from demands such as work, transportation, and child care limitations. A cross-sectional study using data from the American Time Use Survey was conducted to examine associations between social and economic demographics and time spent cooking at home along with eating habits away from home. Results determined only small increases of time spent cooking at home during times of economic hardship. Further studies are needed to define the causes of this lack of change in food behaviors (Smith, et al., 2014).

It is essential to take cultural factors into account when discussing food choices. James conducted six focus groups in a 2004 study to examine the effects of culture on food choices in a selected group of African Americans in Florida. She concluded that the thought of healthy eating was perceived as "giving up a part of their cultural heritage". Other barriers to a healthier diet included cultural symbols of particular foods, increased cost of healthier foods, poor taste, and dearth of nutritional information (James, 2004).

Dimitri and Rogus suggest that creating access to food alone does not promote healthful eating. There are policy mechanisms in place to make food more available, but these policies do not consider behavioral factors. Social demographics, marketing, and behavioral economics must be further evaluated and included in policy formation to actually encourage consumption of nutritious foods (Dimitri & Rogus, 2014).

Nutrition and Cancer Survivorship

Nutrition is an important factor in cancer prevention, but it is equally important in regards to cancer survivorship. A systematic review conducted by the World Cancer Research Fund in 2007 found evidence that identified associations between nutrition, physical activity, and cancer prevention and survivorship. Cancer patients should pay close attention to their nutritious food intake as they are at an increased risk for developing cancer in secondary sites (Witham, 2013).

Another systematic review was designed to introduce the idea of diet as a cancer survivorship intervention. Bazzan, et al. (2013) used previous research to make clinical recommendations to ensure that oncology patients receive enough calories, limit foods that have been linked to modifiable risk factors for cancer prevention, create a diet that minimizes inflammation, and ensure consumption of nutrients linked to cancer prevention. Nutrition is not only essential to physiological health, but for mental and spiritual health as well. Cancer patients often experience weight loss, so adequate calorie consumption is crucial. These calories should come from nutrient rich foods and not foods containing excess sugars and refined carbohydrates. These foods contribute to the onset of other chronic diseases such as diabetes and obesity. These diseases are often comorbidities of cancer. These low nutrient diets also contribute to inflammation, another known pathway of cancer metastasizes and growth (Bazzan, et al., 2013).

A 2010 case study of a patient with breast cancer concluded that nutritional intervention proved to be beneficial to the patient's cancer treatment. The patient had undergone a mastectomy and reported extreme adverse physical and emotion symptoms. Physicians completed a thorough dietary and nutritional assessment and determined that the patient was not meeting basic nutritional requirements for optimum metabolic

function. As a result, the physicians customized a nutritional intervention. This improved the patient's energy, metabolic function, and quality of life. These are all important factors in cancer survivorship (Plotnikoff, 2010). A 2011 case control study was also designed to explore health outcomes from nutritional intervention. This study evaluated differences among 537 discharged cancer patients that received nutrition consultation intervention and those patients that did not receive such intervention. Results from this study showed greater positive outcomes in patients that received nutritional consultation (Tu, et al., 2011).

Nutrition and Cancer Mortality

A 2013 systematic review explored the relationship between dietary factors and colorectal cancer mortality. When observing dietary and lifestyle habits in general, results concluded that higher consumption of a Western diet was associated with decreased rate of survival without disease. However, the direct risk of developing colorectal cancer could not be determined from these results. These results did indicate an adverse relationship between meat intake and colorectal cancer mortality. Contrarily, this study found a protective relationship between increased cereal consumption and colorectal cancer mortality (van Meer, et al., 2013).

Diets consisting of high fruit and vegetable intake are linked to decreased breast cancer mortality. This factor of nutrition does not necessarily represent diet quality overall. Using Dietary Approaches to stop hypertension (DASH, 2003) and the Alternative Healthy Eating Index (AHEI, 2010), a diet quality score was identified among breast cancer survivors. There was no association between diet scores and breast

cancer mortality. However, adherence to DASH and AHEI diets were associated with reduced risk of mortality from diseases other than breast cancer (Izano, et al. 2013).

Comorbidities and Cancer

There are several diseases that are associated with dietary influences. Giovannucci hypothesized that insulin resistance can increase tumor growth (1995). A 2009 longitudinal study further investigated this relationship using National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) data. Results concluded that insulin resistance contributed to a 41% increase in cancer mortality. Because nutrition is associated with insulin resistance the relationship between nutrition and cancer mortality should be explored (Parekh, et al., 2009).

Dehal, et al. also explored comorbidities of colon cancer using NHANES data. Their study examined death rates at various BMI levels. Results revealed no substantial increases of death rates for all cancers, but BMI was significantly associated with colorectal cancer mortality. Mortality rates were .39, .68, and .96 per 1000 person years for normal weight, overweight, and obese BMIs respectively. The authors suggest further research to identify what factors of obesity contribute to greater cancer mortality risk (Dehal, et al., 2011).

CHAPTER III: METHODS AND PROCEDURES

Methodology and Data

This study focuses on county nutritional characteristics and the relationship with cancer mortality for these counties. The county data were obtained for states in Region 4

of the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), Public Health Regions (HHS, 2014). The states included Alabama, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Mississippi, North Carolina, South Carolina, and Tennessee.

Data on county cancer mortality by county of residence were obtained from the United States Department of Health and Human Resources Area Health Resource File (AHRF). This database includes data on health resources and socioeconomic indicators at the county geographic level. Cancer mortality was defined using the 3-year malignant neoplasm deaths from the National Center for Health Statistics Mortality Detail Data Files for the years 2008 through 2010. These average annual three year mortality rates were then calculated by taking a sum of the annual death rates from cancer for the years 2008, 2009, and 2010 and dividing this sum by three. Thus, the 3-year rate is an annual average population rate of death from cancer. The county of death was coded as the place of the deceased individual's residence at the time of death.

Demographic and nutritional data were obtained from RTI International's Spatial Impact Factor Database (RTI International, 2012). SIFD data was developed under National Institute of Health (NIH) funding to provide a database for public use that includes a broad set of variables that can describe the environments in which people live (Schad, Mobley & Hamilton, 2011). SIFD is a compilation of data from the United States Census, Health Resources and Services Administration Spatial Data Warehouse (HRSA), Centers for Medicare and Medicaid (CMS), United States Department of Agriculture (USDA), Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), National Cancer Institute's Surveillance Epidemiology and End Results (SEER), and other research institutions.

Conceptual Model of Cancer Mortality Rates in Counties

The variables included in the conceptual model for this cancer mortality rate research include: cancer mortality rates (2008-2010), the percent of uninsured individuals (2000), the number of grocery stores per capita (2007), average distance to closest colonoscopy provider (2006), age-adjusted percentage of adults aged 20 and older that are obese (2007), number of fast food restaurants per capita (2007), percentage of housing units that are more than one mile from a grocery store and do not have access to a car (grocery data is from 2006 and household data is from 2000), and the percentage of the population that is low income and lives more than one mile away from a grocery store (2006 for grocery data and 2000 for household data). The time period for the outcome of cancer mortality of 2008-2010 was used because this was the most recent cancer mortality data in the AHRF. Data for the associated variables was obtained for the years 2000, 2006, and 2007 so that the outcome data occurred after the predictor variables.

The outcome in this conceptual model was cancer mortality rates. The percentage of housing units that are more than one mile from a grocery store with no vehicle and the percentage of the county population that is low-income and lives more than one mile from a grocery store are included to demonstrate access to food. The number of grocery stores per capita was included in the model because literature shows that access to grocery stores can increase access to both nutritious and unhealthy foods (Dimitri & Rogus, 2014). Also, limited access to a grocery store is a characteristic of a food insecure area (Alviola, et al, 2013). The number of fast-food restaurants per capita was analyzed since evidence shows that areas with low access to nutritious foods may have greater numbers of fast food restaurants. Fast food can also contribute to comorbidities of cancer

(Alviola, et al, 2013). Since vehicle access is a factor that can affect access to a grocery store, I hypothesize that this could also affect access to cancer screening. Colonoscopy can prevent cancer and reduce cancer mortality (NCI, 2015). Therefore, I included distance to colonoscopy providers in the conceptual model. BMI and obesity are significant risk factors for cancer outcomes. These comorbidities are also potential outcomes of residing in food impoverished areas (Holben & Pheley, 2006). The age-adjusted percentage for adults with obesity was also included in this analysis.

These data were downloaded into Microsoft Excel 2003 format and converted to DBASE IV format using Stat/Transfer data conversion software (Stat/Transfer, 2015). County geographic shapefiles provided by the US Census Bureau were then linked to these contextual data using the county FIPS code.

 Table 1: Selected Variables for Conceptual Model Examining the Association between Food Environment and Cancer

 Mortality

Variable	Description	Original Data Source	Year
A3_YEAR_MA	Average three year death rate from malignant neoplasms	National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS)	2008-2010
HUNV10	Percentage of housing units in a county that are more than one mile from a supermarket or large grocery store and have no car	Food Environment Atlas Website (USDA)	2006 for store data; 2000 for household data
LOWI1	Percentage of the total population in a county that is low income and lives more than one mile from a supermarket or large grocery store	Food Environment Atlas Website (USDA)	2006 for store data; 2000 for household data
FAST_FOOD_	Number of fast-food restaurants in the county per 1,000 residents	Food Environment Atlas Website (USDA)	2007
PCT_ADULT_	Estimates of age-adjusted percentage of persons age 20 plus with obesity	Food Environment Atlas Website (USDA)	2007
DIST_COL_2	average distance to closest colonoscopy provider for ZIP codes in this unit	Centers for Medicare and Medicaid (CMS)	2006
GROC_PC0	Number of supermarkets and grocery stores in the county per 1,000 residents	Food Environment Atlas Website (USDA)	2007

Data Analysis

GeoDa software for spatial data analysis (GeoDa, 2014)) was used to perform descriptive exploratory data analysis, and spatial regression analysis. Spatial clustering analysis using the Local Indicators of Spatial Association or LISA test (Anselin, 1995) was conducted first. Finding evidence of significant local spatial clustering, spatial regression was then used to determine relationships between the cancer mortality rates, nutritional and demographic factors accounting for the influence of neighboring county values for 726 counties in the Southeast United States.

LISA is a spatial clustering statistic that indicates the extent of spatial clustering around a specific observation. This takes the average neighborhood cancer mortality rate, and identifies areas where there are patterns of similarities that are not expected by chance. These clusters are discovered by comparing the rates of six counties in the sample 999 times to determine a correlation. If the correlation is statistically significant (p<.05), then there is evidence of a pattern that is not by chance. Spatial weights were constructed to enable conducting the LISA cluster analysis and spatial regression. The 6 closest neighbor weights were used in the analysis, which identifies a county's neighbors as the six closest counties around it to calculate the Moran's I coefficient (Anselin, 1995).

LISA indicates the presence of significant spatial clusters. Results depict spatial similarities among neighboring areas. Maps generated by LISA identify local clusters of areas of above average cancer mortality surrounded by counties of similar cancer mortality, as well as areas of below average cancer mortality surrounded by areas that also have below average cancer mortality (Anselin, 1995).

Next, an ordinary least squares regression was run, using these weights, to determine whether there were spatial effects in the regression data that needed to be modeled. Specification tests described in Mobley et al (2006) were used to determine whether a spatial lag or a spatial error specification was more appropriate. There was strong spatial autocorrelation, as indicated in the exploratory LISA tests, and the spatial lag model was the best specification based on the regression diagnostics in GeoDa.

Coefficients and the respective p-values from the spatial regression were used to determine positive or negative relationships between variables and their statistical significance. This spatial lag model was used to account for the extent to which variables in one area are influenced by variables in neighboring areas, so that regression estimates and significance tests could be unbiased. Results from both ordinary regression and spatial lag regression are included to show the differences in the results when spatial effects are accounted for.

Hypotheses to be Tested in the Spatial Regression Modeling

The conceptual model, based on the literature review, describes the covariates to include in the model. Based on the literature, there are several hypothesized relationships that can be defined for the model. These hypotheses describe what the direction (sign) of association is to be expected between the covariate and the outcome. Results from the literature determined that nutritious foods are associated with reduced cancer mortality, and that consumption of unhealthy foods is associated with greater cancer mortality. Other chronic diseases such as diabetes and obesity are also associated with an increase in cancer mortality. This led to the formation of the following hypotheses

- The percentage of housing units in a county that have low access to food is positively associated with cancer mortality.
- The percentage of a county population that has low access to food is positively associated with cancer mortality.
- The number of supermarkets and grocery stores per capita is negatively associated with cancer mortality.
- The number of fast-food restaurants in a county per capita is positively associated with cancer mortality.
- The percentage of adults with obesity in a county is positively associated with cancer mortality.
- The average distance to a colonoscopy provider is positively associated with cancer mortality.

CHAPTER IV: RESULTS

Data was available for 736 counties in the Southeast United States. LISA results are presented first, followed by the spatial regression results.

LISA Exploratory Analysis

LISA analysis depicts clusters of statistically significant spatial associates to account for possible similarities in practices of neighboring counties. Blue areas represent counties with below average cancer mortality rates that neighbor counties that also have below average cancer mortality rates. Red areas depict counties of above average cancer mortality that are surrounded by counties that, too, have above average cancer mortality rates. Pale red and pale blue areas depict counties with cancer mortality rates that differ from the rates of its neighboring counties (Anselin, et al., 2006).

Results from the exploratory, descriptive LISA analysis of the county mortality rates identified six areas where clusters of counties with similar mortality rates are located. Clusters of below average cancer mortality rates (blue) are located in central Mississippi, western Alabama, southeast Georgia, eastern Kentucky, and central Kentucky. The statistically significant county clusters of below average cancer mortality during 2008-2010 in the Southeast are depicted in Figure 1. The clusters properly include the county identified in the colored section of the map, and its six closest neighbors (Schieb et al, 2013). Florida contains a large cluster of counties with above average cancer mortality rates (red). These counties are also depicted in Figure 1. There is also a cluster of high cancer mortality located in the metropolitan area of Atlanta, Georgia.

Figure 1: Results from LISA Spatial Clustering Analysis of Average Annual County Cancer Mortality Rates during 2008-2010: Spatial Clusters of Above-Average County Rates (red) and Below Average County Rates (Blue) in the Southeast United States



Regression Results

	Ordinary Least Squares Regression (OLS)		Spatial Lag Regression	
Variable	Coefficient	p-Value	Coefficient	p-Value
A3_YEAR_MA*			0.539	0.0000
HUNV10	30.43	0.00002	26.11	0.00002
LOWI1	-16.42	0.0000	-12.28	0.0000
FAST_FOOD_	-46.49	0.34256	45.99	0.31042
PCT_ADULT_	-23.36	0.0000	-13.21	0.00006
DIST_COL_2	-7.84	0.00043	-7.39	0.00012
GROC_PC0	174.38	0.09684	172.02	0.05788
*This variable repr	esents the spatial	lag coefficient		·

	Table 2: Re	esults from (Ordinary	Least Squa	res and Spatia	al Lag Regressions
--	-------------	---------------	----------	------------	----------------	--------------------

Ordinary least squares model is conducted first to determine whether the existing spatial dependence is spatial lag or spatial error. With spatial lag, observed outcomes are determined simultaneously with neighboring outcomes. In spatial error, factors in neighboring are unobserved (Mobley et al, 2006). Lagrange Multiplier results from the ordinary least squares regression are used to determine spatial dependence. Since the lag Lagrange Multiplier was more significant in these results, lag spatial dependence was used (Mobley, et al, 2006).

Results from spatial lag regression in Table 2 indicate statistically significant relationships at the .05 level between cancer mortality rates and number of housing units with no vehicle that are more than one mile from a grocery store (p=.00002), percentage of low-income individuals that live more than one mile away from a grocery store (p=.0000), the percentage of obese adults (p=.00006), and the average distance to the nearest colonoscopy provider (p=.00012). The lag parameter, cancer mortality rate, is also statistically significant (p=.0000). A significant lag parameter is important as it

demonstrates spatial dependence. This means that the parameters in the ordinary least squares regression are overestimated (Mobley, et al, 2006). This means that the values of cancer mortality observed in a county location are influenced by values of its surrounding neighbors (Anselin, et al., 2006).

The percentage of housing units that are located more than one mile away from a grocery store with no access to a vehicle (HUNV10) was positively associated with cancer mortality and statistically significant. This met the expectations of the hypothesis. The percentage of the county population that was low income and lived more than one mile from a grocery store (LOWI1) was negatively associated with cancer mortality and was statistically significant. This rejected the initial hypothesis. As the number of fast food restaurants per capita (FAST_FOOD_) decreased, cancer mortality increased. These data also rejected the initial hypothesis. Obesity (PCT_ADULT_) was inversely associated with cancer mortality and statistically significant. These results did not meet the expectations of the initial hypothesis based on the literature. The number of grocery stores per capita (GROC_PC0) was positively associated with cancer mortality; however, these results were only slightly significant (p=.05788). This rejected the initial hypothesis.

CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Clusters of High Cancer Mortality Rates

The statistically significant spatial clusters found by the LISA analysis can be explained by numerous factors. The clusters of low cancer mortality are located in rural areas. These areas may have lower access to cancer screenings (Horner-Johnson, et al, 2014). Poor people and rural dwellers who are not screened may have died from cancer, while this was not known or reported. Few cases of cancer mortality are discovered from autopsy, because autopsy is not routine. So there may be an urban-rural and SES bias in the cancer mortality data that are reported.

There are other factors in these rural areas that could explain why cancer mortality rates are lower in these areas. These areas may have decreased access to fast food and other unhealthy food options that may contribute to cancer and cancer mortality. The Florida clusters could have a slightly different explanation. Florida is known for its population of older individuals who migrated there at retirement age from other regions of the US. The risk of chronic disease increases with age. Therefore, Florida's aboveaverage clusters of cancer mortality rates could be due to the older population demographics of the residents. The cluster of high cancer mortality rates in the Atlanta, Georgia area may be influenced by a large number of medical centers, thus increased cancer screening opportunities. Atlanta is also a very urban city with greater access to unhealthy food options.

Associations between Factors included in the regression model and the county cancer mortality outcome are discussed next. These findings are not always as expected under the hypotheses posed above.

Results from the spatial lag regression show a statistically significant (p=.00002) positive association between the percentage of housing units in a county that have low access to healthy foods and no vehicle (HUNV10) and cancer mortality. However, the percentage of the overall county population that had low access to food (LOWI1) was not significantly associated with increased cancer mortality. The reason for these results may be tied to vehicle access. Although low-income individuals may not live near a grocery store (LOWI1), this population may have vehicle access that allows them to reach areas of fast food or other unhealthful food resources. These results agree with the results of Sharkey, et al (2010).

Greater numbers of grocery stores per capita (GROC_PC0) was also associated with increased cancer mortality. However, this variable had a weaker statistically significant positive association with increased cancer mortality (P=0.05788). This means that although individuals living in areas with accessible grocery stores had greater access to nutritious foods, they also had access to junk food and may not have made nutritious choices.

There were a number of variables that were associated with decreased cancer mortality. These results were not expected based on the hypotheses. As the number of fast food restaurants per capita decreased (FAST_FOOD_), cancer mortality increased. However, this result was not statistically significant (p=.31042). The same results were concluded with the distance to the nearest colonoscopy provider (DIST_COL2). As

neighborhoods become farther from colonoscopy screening facilities, cancer mortality decreases. This may be due to a lack of urbanization in these areas (Berrigan, et al, 2014). Rural areas may not be exposed to some cancer causing agents including pollution and easy access to fast-foods.

Limitations & Future Implications

A major limitation to this study is that it does not take into account the behaviors of the residents. Although healthy food is available, consuming it may not be the preference of county residents (Dimitri & Rogus, 2014). A future study to examine the behaviors and choices of residents in these areas would be very beneficial to determining how access to food affects cancer mortality. Another limitation to this study is mortality rate itself. The majority of studies in the literature examined cancer incidence rather than mortality. Since individuals may relocate after their cancer diagnosis to facilitate treatment, the location at time of diagnosis may not be accurately recorded. It is necessary to capture where the cancer diagnosis was made to determine if nutrition access made an impact. Relocation of cancer patients causes confounding because it modifies the county where the patients' deaths occur. Death rates in counties with cancer centers may be higher due to this relocation. Therefore, data for these counties can be misleading (Tu, et al, 2012). Also, mortality rates to not provide information on an individual's complete physical history. Death certificates are not always complete and the true cause of death may not be captured if a person has multiple contributing factors that led to their death (Van Der Velden, et al, 2009).

This study is limited by its cross-sectional design. Cross sectional studies can only assess one specific point in time and cannot determine causality. Therefore, this study can

only generate hypotheses (Bland, 2001). Literature shows that nutrition can influence cancer mortality (Izano, et al. 2013); however, poor access to nutrition is not the only cause of cancer mortality. ACS has determined that one third of cancer deaths are attributed to diet and physical activity. This mortality data does not distinguish cancer death attributed to other causes such as genetics, chemical exposures, tobacco use, etc. This study does not distinguish cancer mortality by cancer site. Since not all cancer types are associated with nutrition, this study is limited. A future study may explore cancer mortality by cancer site. Other studies have examined numerous lifestyle factors that contribute to cancer and mortality (van Meer, et al., 2013). Smoking behaviors, physical activity, chemical exposure, and other behavioral determinants should be assessed. Including these variables in future studies may be a more effective approach for determining what locational factors affect cancer mortality.

Age, race, and gender are demographic factors that should be considered when exploring health outcomes. This study did not incorporate demographic factors. Since demographic variables were only available for the year 2000, they were not included in this study. Without accounting for demographics, the study cannot entirely determine which factors are contributing the most to cancer mortality in food insecure neighborhoods. As future data is available, these aspects should be explored.

Although the results from the LISA analysis suggest that age might play a role in cancer mortality, this data was not included in the conceptual model. The most recent data available for county age is from the year 2000. Future studies may be able to incorporate current age data into a similar model.

Conclusion

It is well known that healthy, nutrient rich diets can be protective against several forms of cancer. This study found a significant association between living in areas of low access to nutritious foods and increased cancer mortality. However, this study also found a weakly positive association between the numbers of grocery stores per capita and increased cancer mortality. The literature review noted that although healthy foods may be available, there are numerous factors including culture, food choices, taste preferences, and other behavioral factors that determine what foods are being consumed (James, 2004). Future studies will be needed to determine which behavioral and lifestyle factors are contributing to food choices. Results from the literature found that increasing access to foods (i.e., grocery stores) does also increase access to unhealthy foods. It does not change food preferences or behaviors. Policies designed to create more availability for food must consider behaviors in order to the healthfulness of dietary intake (Dimitri & Rogus, 2014). Research is very limited in the association between cancer mortality and access to nutritious foods. More research is needed to explore which specific built environment factors affect cancer mortality. Access to food should be enhanced for food insecure neighborhoods. This could include neighborhood gardens, farmers markets, etc.

REFERENCES

Adam Drewnowski, Rehm C. Consumption of added sugars among US children and adults by food purchase location and food source. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2014;100(3):901-

907.<u>http://ezproxy.gsu.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true</u>&db=eih&AN=97649206&site=eds-live.

American Cancer Society, What Is Cancer, 2015

Alviola P, Nayga R, Thomsen M, Wang Z. Determinants of food deserts. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*. 2013;95(5):1259-1265.

Anselin L, Sybabri I, Kho Y. GeoDa: An introduction to spatial data analysis. *Goltdammer's Archiv fr Strafrecht*. 2006;38(January):5.

Anselin L. LOCAL INDICATORS OF SPATIAL ASSOCIATION - LISA. *GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS*. 1995;27(2):93-115.

Bazzan A, Newberg A, Cho W, Monti D. Diet and nutrition in cancer survivorship and palliative care. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*. 2013.<u>http://dx.doi.og/10.1155/2013/917647</u>.

Berrigan D, Tatalovich Z, Pickle L, Ewing R, Ballard-Barbash R. Urban sprawl, obesity, and cancer mortality in the united states: Cross-sectional analysis and methodological challenges. *International Journal of Health Geographics*. 201;13(1):2-27.

Bland M. An Introduction to Medical Statistics. 3rd Edn. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2001

Bovell-Benjamin AC, Hathorn CS, Ibrahim S, Gichuhi PN, Bromfield EM. Healthy food choices and physical activity opportunities in two contrasting alabama cities. *Health Place*. 2009;15(2):429-38.

Byers TE, Wolf HJ, Bauer KR, et al. The impact of socioeconomic status on survival after cancer in the united states : Findings from the national program of cancer registries patterns of care study.*Cancer*. 2008;113(3):582-91.

Christian TJ. Grocery store access and the food insecurity-obesity paradox. *Journal of Hunger and Environmental Nutrition*. 2010;5(3):360-369.

Dehal A, Garrett T, Tedders SH, Arroyo C, Afriyie-Gyawu E, Zhang J. Body mass index and death rate of colorectal cancer among a national cohort of U.S. adults. *Nutr Cancer*. 2011;63(8):1218-1225.

Dimitri C, Rogus S. Food choices, food security, and food policy. *Journal of International Affairs*. 2014;67(2):19-31.

Donna B Johnson (djohn@uw.edu) Emilee Quinn (equinn1@uw.edu) Marilyn Sitaker (sitakerm@battelle.org) Alice Ammerman (alice_ammerman@unc.edu) Carmen Byker (carmen.byker@montana.edu) Wesley Dean (wesley.dean@fns.usda.gov) Sheila Fleischhacker (sheila.fleischhacker@nih.gov) Jane Kolodinsky (jkolodin@uvm.edu) Courtney Pinard (cpinard@centerfornutrition.org) Stephanie B Pitts (jilcotts@ecu.edu) Joseph Sharkey (jrsharkey@srph.tamhsc.edu). Developing an agenda for research about policies to improve access to healthy foods in rural communities: A concept mapping study. *BMC Public Health*.

2014;2(14):592. <u>http://ezproxy.gsu.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx</u>?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=97115074&site=eds-live.

Dyer KJ, Fearon K, Buckner K, Richardson RA. Diet and colorectal cancer risk: Baseline dietary knowledge of colorectal patients. *Health Educ J*. 2004;63(3):242-253.

Family smoking prevention and tobacco control act. <u>http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/PLAW-111publ31/pdf/PLAW-111publ31.pdf</u> Web site. . Updated 20092015.

GeoDa. http://geodacenter.asu.edu/software Web site. 2015.

Giovannucci E. Insulin and colon cancer. Cancer Causes Control. 1995;6(2):164-79.

Gowda C, Hadley C, Aiello AE. The association between food insecurity and inflammation in the US adult population. *American Journal of Public Health*. 2012;102(8):1579-1586.

Hilmers A, Hilmers DC, Dave J. Neighborhood disparities in access to healthy foods and their effects on environmental justice. *American Journal of Public Health*. 2012;102(9):1644-1654.

Hillier, A., Chilton, M., Zhao, Q., Szymkowiak, D., Coffman, R., & Mallya, G. (2015). Concentration of Tobacco Advertisements at SNAP and WIC Stores, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, 2012. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, *12*(15). Retrieved from http://www.centerforhungerfreecommunities.org/sites/default/files/pdfs/Hillier

Holben DH, Pheley AM. Diabetes risk and obesity in food-insecure households in rural appalachian ohio. *Preventing Chronic Disease*. 2006;3(3):1-9.

Horner-Johnson W, Dobbertin K, Lee J, Andresen E. Rural disparities in the receipt of colorectal cancer screening among adults ages 50-64 with disabilities. *Disability and Health Journal*. 2014;7(4):394-401.

Inderbir Sohi, Bethany Bell, Jihong Liu, Sarah Battersby, Angela Liese. Differences in food environment perceptions and spatial attributes of food shopping between residents of low and high food access areas. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*. 2014;46(4):241-249.

Izano M, Fung T, Chiuve S, Hu F, Holmes M. Are diet quality scores after breast cancer diagnosis associated with improved cancer survival? *Nutrition and Cancer*. 2013;65(6):820-826.

James DCS. Factors influencing food choices, dietary intake, and nutrition-related attitudes among african americans: Application of a culturally sensitive model. *Ethn Health*. 2004;9(4; 4):349-367.

Kabat G, Matthews C, Kamensky V, Hollenbeck A, Rohan T. Adherence to cancer prevention guidelines and cancer incidence, cancer mortality, and total mortality: A prospective cohort study. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2015;101:558-69.

Katarzyna Budzynska, Patricia West, Ruth Savoy-Moore, DArlene Lindsey, Michael Winter, and PK Newby. A food desert in detroit: Associations with food shopping and eating behaviors, dietary intakes and obesity. *Public Health Nutrition*. 2013;16(12):2114-2123.

Kaufman PR. Measuring access to nutritious, affordable food: A national assessment. *Journal of Food Distribution Research*. 2010;41(1):70-74. <u>http://ezproxy.gsu.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=bth&AN=51229064&site=eds-live</u>.

Klein W, Bloch M, Hesse B, et al. Behavioral research in cancer prevention and control: A look to the future. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*. 2014;46(3):303-311.

Kushi LH, Byers T, Doyle C, et al. American cancer society guidelines on nutrition and physical activity for cancer prevention: Reducing the risk of cancer with healthy food choices and physical activity.*CA Cancer J Clin.* ;56(5):254-81; quiz 313.

Leung C, Epel E, Ritchie L, Crawford P, Laraia B. Food insecurity is associated inversely associated with diet quality of lower income adults. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*. 2014;114(12):1943-1953.

Michele Ver Ploeg. Access to affordable and nutritious food : Updated estimates of distance to supermarkets using 2010 data.

. <u>http://ezproxy.gsu.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&d</u> b=edsgpr&AN=gprocn822976704&site=eds-live.

MICHELLE FANG,1 ALISON M. BUTTENHEIM,2 JOSHUA HAVASSY,3 and SARAH E. GOLLUST4. It's not an 'If you build it they will come' type of scenario": Stakeholder perspectives

on farmers' markets as a policy solution to food access in low-income neighborhoods. *Journal of Hunger & Environmental Nutrition*. 2013(8):39-60.

Mobley LR, Root E, Anselin L, Lozano-Gracia N, Koschinsky J. Spatial analysis of elderly access to primary care services. *International Journal Of Health Geographics*. 2006;5(1476-072):19.

National Cancer Institute. Screening

tests. <u>http://www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/screening/screening-tests</u> Web site. . Updated 2015.

Parekh N, Lin Y, Hayes RB, Albu JB, Lu-Yao GL. Longitudinal associations of blood markers of insulin and glucose metabolism and cancer mortality in the third national health and nutrition examination survey. *Cancer Causes & Control*. 2010;21(4):631-642.

Plotnikoff GA. Interventional nutrition in cancer survivorship. A case study. *Minn Med.* 2010;93(10):53-8.

Quick B, Hester C, Young K, Greiner K. Self-reported barriers to colorectal screening in a racially diverse, low-income population. *Journal of Community Health*. 2012;38:285-292.

Rose D. Economic determinants and dietary consequences of food insecurity in the united states. *J Nutr*. 1999;129(2):517S-520s.

RTI International. Spatial impact factor data. <u>https://rtispatialdata.rti.org/</u> Web site. . Updated 2012.

Schieb L, Mobley L, George M, Casper M. Tracking stroke hospitalization clusters over time and associations with county-level socioeconomic and healthcare characteristics. *Stroke*. 2013;44(1):146-52.

Sharkey J, Horel S, Dean W. Neighborhood deprivation, vehicle ownership, and potential spatial access to a variety of fruits and vegetables in a large rural area in texas. *International journal of health geographics*. 2010;9(26):1.

Smith L, NG SW, Popkin B. Resistant to the recession: Low-income adults' maintenance of cooking and away-from-home eating behaviors during times of economic turbulence. *Research and Practice*. 2014;104(5):840-846.

Stat/transfer. http://www.stattransfer.com/stattransfer/. Accessed March 27, 2015.

Stuff JE, Casey PH, Connell CL, Champagne CM, Gossett JM, Harsha D. Household food insecurity and obesity, chronic disease, and chronic disease risk factors. *Journal of Hunger and Environmental Nutrition*. 2007;1(2):43-62.

The cost of cancer. National Cancer Institute.

2011. http://www.cancer.gov/aboutnci/servingpeople/understanding-burden/costofcancer.

The patient protection and affordable and affordable care act. <u>http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/PLAW-111publ148/pdf/PLAW-111publ148.pdf</u> Web site. . Updated 20102015.

Tolzman C, Rooney B, Duquette D, Rees K. Perceived barriers to accessing adequate nutrition among food insecure households within a food desert. *Wisconsin Medical Journal*. 2014;113(4):139-143.

Tori L. DeMartini • Andrew F. Beck • Robert S. Kahn • Melissa D. Klein. Food insecure families: Description of access and barriers to food from one pediatric primary care center. *Journal of Community Health*. 2013;38:1182-1187. <u>http://ezproxy.gsu.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=tru</u> <u>e&db=eft&AN=91843076&site=eds-live</u>.

Tu, Chien, Lin, Liu. Effects of an intervention on nutrition consultation for cancer patients. *European Journal of Cancer Care*. 2012;22:370-376.

U.S. Department of Agriculture and U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *Dietary Guidelines for Americans, 2010.* 7th Edition, Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office, December 2010.

US Department of Health and Human Services. Regional offices. <u>www.hhs.gov</u> Web site. <u>http://www.hhs.gov/iea/regional/index.html</u>. Updated 2014. Accessed April 15, 2015.

Van der Velden, L. F., Francke, A. L., Hingstman, L., & Willems, D. L. (2009). Dying from cancer or other chronic diseases in the Netherlands: ten-year trends derived from death certificate data. *BMC Palliative Care*, *8*, 4. doi:10.1186/1472-684X-8-4

Van Meer S, Leufkens A, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, van Duijnhoven F, van Oijen M, Siersema P. Role of dietary factors in survival and mortality in colorectal cancer: A systematic review. *Nutrition Reviews*. 2013;71(9):631-641.

Ver Ploeg M. "Access to affordable, nutritious food is limited in ""food deserts""". *Amber Waves*. 2010;8(1):20. <u>http://ezproxy.gsu.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?di</u>rect=true&db=bth&AN=48366398&site=eds-live.

Witham G. Nutrition and cancer: Issues related to treatment and survivorship. *Nutrition*. 2013:S24. <u>http://web.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=4caa87f6-0e2e-4b44-9101-d6ac1a0af242%40sessionmgr114&hid=106</u>.

Wyse R, Campbell K, Brennan L, Wolfenden L. A cluster randomised controlled trail of a telephone-based intervention targeting the home food environment of preschoolers (the healthy habits trail): The effect on parent rut and vegetable consumption. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*. 2014;11(144).